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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

ERNEST GARLINGTON,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:17-cv-726 (VAB)

SUSAN CLIFFORDegt al,
Defendants.

RULING AND ORDER

Ernest Garlington (“Plaintiff”), incarcated at the MacDougall-Walker Correctional
Institution in Suffield, Connecticut, and proceedprg se has sued Susan Clifford and Coldwell
Banker Real Estate Agency (“Coldwell BanKefCollectively “Defendants”) under 42 U.S.C §
1983 for conspiring to violate higghts under the Fifth, Sixthpd Fourteenth Amendments of
the U.S. Constitution and under 42 U.S.C. § 1985.

This ruling addresses a number of filings bg farties in this case. Both Ms. Clifford
and Coldwell Banker move to dismiss the édmded Complaint. ECF No. 42, ECF No. 45. Mr.
Garlington has moved for the Court to reddesits Order, dated August 20, 2017, denying his
motion to file a second amended complaint arsgparate motion for a temporary restraining
order. ECF No. 53. Mr. Garlington also has moteetile a second amended complaint. ECF No.
57. Finally, Mr. Garlington has moved for the appointment of counsel, ECF No. 60, and for
injunctive relief. ECF No. 61.

For the reasons that follow, the COGRANTS Ms. Clifford’s and Coldwell Banker’s
motions to dismiss. The CoWENIES Mr. Garlington’s motion to amend amXENIES his

motions for reconsideration, appointmentotinsel, and injunctive relief as moot.
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I FACTUAL ALLEGATIONSAND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Factual Allegations

Mr. Garlington is currently serving a thirtinee year term of incarceration for allegedly
conspiring to murder Derek Hopson, the ex-huasbaf Mr. Garlington’swife. Am. Compl. at
19. Mr. Hopson allegedly marriedgmother of former professionaasketball player Ray Allen.
Id.

In August of 2005, Ms. Clifford’s family friends, the Dolans, allegedly met with Mr.
Allen who had expressed interest in purchgghe Dolans’ home in Meriden, Connectiddt.q
4. In October 2006, Ms. Clifford, who is a restate broker with Coldwell Banker, allegedly
met with the Dolans, who had hired herhelp sell their waterfront homiel. 5. Ms. Clifford
allegedly stood to gain a commission of 0$240,000 and the Dolans would profit two-to-three
million dollars, if Ms. Clifford was successful in selling the Dolans’ propédtyy 5.

In July 2007, Ms. Clifford’s husband, ConneatiSuperior Court Judge Patrick Clifford,
allegedly was assigned to presideoMr. Garlington’s criminal caséd. I 6. Judge Clifford
allegedly is a basketball “fanatic” and is acquaintgth Mr. Allen and iclosely associated with
the Dolansld. In August 2007, before Mr. Garlingtorésiminal trial, Mr. Allen allegedly
contacted Ms. Clifford to express his conta interest in purchasing the Dolans’ hoide{ 8.

In October of 2007, during jury selection for MBarlington’s criminal trial, Ms. Clifford
allegedly was the subject of a private conagos between Judge Clifford, the prosecuting
attorney, and Mr. Garlington’s criminal defenstomney, surreptitiously recorded without their
knowledgeld. 1 9. During this conversation, Judge Clitfallegedly said that Ms. Clifford
“better start shaking the monage” because the Cliffords needed money to pay for their

daughters upcoming wedding. Allegedly, Mr. Garlington’s attmey commented that, if Ms.



Clifford helped sell the Dolans’ property Mr. Allen, the Cliffords could collect the
commission for their retirement savindgs.

In November 2007, a jury convicted Mr. Gagdion. Before his sentencing, he allegedly
hired a Boston law firm to represent him in the criminal malidef] 11. Mr. Garlington’s
attorney allegedly filednotions for Judge Clifford to recusémself from Mr. Garlington’s case
and requested the case be tried again, duetatk of an appearance of impartialityd’ 1 13.

In response to the motions, the prosecutdhénmatter allegedly submitted documentary
evidence supposedly signed by the Dolans, butaltededly was forged by Ms. Clifford, stating
that Ms. Clifford would earn no comasion, if she sold the Dolan propery. 1 14.

Mr. Garlington’s recusal motion was assidrie Connecticut Superior Court Judge
Robert Holzbergld. 1 15. Mr. Garlington asserts thatdge Holzberg was biased against Mr.
Garlington because Judge Holzberg had adedi Robert Santos, the person whom Dr.
Garlington allegedly hired to murder Mr. Has the subject of Mr. Garlington’s criminal
matter pending before Judge Cliffotd. Judge Holzberg denied Mr. Garlington’s motitah. |
16.

Judge Clifford allegedly sentenced Mr. Gaglion to thirty-three yars’ incarceration as
retaliation for Mr. Garlington having exposed Ju@@jiford’s financial conflict of interestd.
17. Mr. Garlington further allegesat) if Ms. Clifford’s alleged act of forgery had been revealed,
“the wrongful conviction would have been vaachtand Dr. Garlington wodlbe a free, innocent
man.”Id. § 20.

Mr. Garlington alleges that the ConnectiButblic Defender Service appointed Theodore
Koch to represent Mr. Ganlgton in his habeas appell. § 21. Mr. Garlington maintains that

Ms. Clifford had clandestinelephone conversations with Mr. Koch, during which she allegedly



intimidated, coerced, and colluded with Mr. Koobsulting in Mr. Kochwithdrawing from his
representation of Mr. Garlingtold. 1 21-22. Mr. Koch allegedly seMr. Garlington a letter,
which stated:
When | told you | would take your habeas case, | did not know Judge
Clifford. Then he was assigned be the Presiding Judge of New
London, and | got to know him frothat. | know that you and | have
discussed your claims againsthiand you have somewhat tamped
them down at my advice, but | dewt want to restrict you from
making as powerful an attack against your conviction as you wish
to make. There arises a sensecofflict of interest when | have
cases before Judge Clifford in which | am asking him to be as fair
to my client as possible, and the other hand | am accusing him of
insidious corruption in a habeagdn’t think he wvould handle that
well, and my trial-level clients may suffer from it. | hope you
understand.
Id. at 32—33. Mr. Garlington maintains that Mr. Kocléter demonstratdbat the Cliffords and
Coldwell Banker met with Mr. Koch to offer him an ultimature,, either Mr. Koch withdraw
his representation of Mr. Gargton or Mr. Koch’s “triallevel clients may suffer.Id. | 24.
Mr. Garlington maintains that Coldwell Bier colluded with Ms. Clifford by enabling
Ms. Clifford to forge documents under its sealtfte purpose of obstructing the due course of
justice.ld. T 34.
B. Procedural Background
Mr. Garlington filed a Complaint with s Court on May 2, 2017, ECF No. 1, and an
amended one on June 26, 2017. ECF No. 12.Amisnded Complaint is the operative one. Mr.
Garlington moved to amend and for a temporastraining order, which the Court denied on
August 10, 2017. ECF Nos. 29, 30.
On August 16, 2017, Ms. Clifford moved tcesdiiss the Amended Complaint for failure

to state a claim. ECF No. 42. Coldwell Banker moved to dismiss on August 17, 2017. ECF No.



45. Consistent with Local Rule 12(a), Defendashtily served Mr. Garlington with a Notice to
Self-Represented Litigant Concernikiption to Dismiss. ECF Nos. 44, 47.

On August 31, 2017, Mr. Garlington moved feconsideration of the Court’s August 16,
2017, Order. ECF No. 53. On December2®17, Mr. Garlington moved to amend the
Amended Complaint, for the appointment of colinsed for special trap®rtation to the Court.
ECF Nos. 57, 60—-61. This proposed Second Am@@tenplaint seeks declaratory relief and
money damages. Am. Compl. at 12-13.
I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A complaint must contain a “short and platatement of the claim showing that the
pleader is entitled to reliefFed. R. Civ. P. 8(a). Any claithat fails “to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted,” Fed. R. Civ.1IR(b)(6), will be dismissed. In reviewing a
complaint under Rule 12(b)(6,“plausibility standard” ispplied, guided by “two working
principles.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

First, “[tjhreadbare recitals of the elents of a cause of action, supported by mere
conclusory statements, do not suffickel’; see alsdBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombjyp50 U.S.
544, 555 (2007) (“While a complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not
need detailed factual allegations . . . a fitiia obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his
‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more than ldb@nd conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of
the elements of a cause of action will not dnternal citations omitted)). Second, “only a
complaint that states a plausible cldonrelief survives a motion to dismisddbal, 556 U.S. at
679. Thus, the complaint must contain “factual Bfication . . . to render a claim plausible.”
Arista Records LLC v. Dog 804 F.3d 110, 120 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotihgrkmen v. Ashcraft

589 F.3d 542, 546 (2d Cir. 2009)).



At this stage of the case, all of the fattaldegations in the complaint must be accepted
as truelgbal, 556 U.S. at 67.8The factual allegations must alge viewed in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff, and all inferencesist be drawn in favor of the plaintif€ohen v.
S.A.C. Trading Corp.711 F.3d 353, 359 (2d Cir. 2013ge also York v. Ass’n of the Bar of the
City of New York286 F.3d 122, 125 (2d Cir. 2002) (“On a roatto dismiss for failure to state a
claim, we construe the complaint in the lighdst favorable to the plaintiff, accepting the
complaint’s allegations as true.”).

In addition, a complaint filed by a plaintiff proceedimgp semust be construed liberally.
Dolan v. Connolly 794 F.3d 290, 293 (2d Cir. 201¥¥o sepleadings will be read “to raise the
strongest arguments they suggeBettin v. United State€l78 F.3d 489, 491 (2d Cir. 2007).
“Even in apro secase, however, ‘although a court must accept as true all of the allegations
contained in a complaint, that tenet is inapplicablkegal conclusions, antlreadbare recitals of
the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”
Chavis v. Chappiy$18 F.3d 162, 170 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotidgrris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72
(2d Cir. 2009)). “[W]hen addressingoao secomplaint, a districtcourt should not dismiss
without granting leave to amendlaast once when a liberal reagl of the complaint gives any
indication that a valid eim might be stated. Thompson v. Carte284 F.3d 411, 416 (2d Cir.
2002) (quotingBranum v. Clark927 F.2d 698, 705 (2d Cir. 1991)).

[11. DISCUSSION

Mr. Garlington alleges violations of his HiftSixth, and Fourteenth Amendments rights
by Ms. Clifford and Coldwell Banker'sghts by and through 42 U.S.C. § 1983 ander 42
U.S.C. § 1985. Am. Compl. § 1. Because, as a maitiaw, neither Ms. Clifford nor Coldwell

Banker are state actors, MBarlington’s Section 1983 clainand his claim under Section



1985(3) fail. His claim under Seah 1985(2) fails for a different ason: the absence of race or
class-based animds.
A. 42 U.S.C. §1983

Ms. Clifford and Collwell Banker are the salefendants in this matter. Am. Compl. 8
[11(1)—(3); see also id§ 27 (“Chief Justicesic] Patrick Clifford . . . is not a defendant . . . .").
The essence of Mr. Garlington’s claim is tN&. Clifford and Coldwell Banker conspired to
deny him access to his court-appointed attprivlr. Koch. Ms. Clifford, through intimidation,
blackmail, and machination, allegedly coerced Ktych to withdraw his representation of Mr.
Garlangton, thus depriving Mr. Qisngton of his constitutional righto counsel and access-to-the
courts. The Court finds that M@arlington lacks a viable claim.

“Because the United States Constitutregulates only the Government, not private
parties,” a litigant . . . who alleges that [hispristitutional rights haveden violated must first
establish that the challengeoincluct constitutes ‘state actionGrogan v. Blooming Grove
Volunteer Ambulance Corpg68 F.3d 259, 263 (2d Cir. 2014) (quotiggg v. Yonkers Sav. &
Loan Ass’'n, FA396 F.3d 178, 186 (2d Cir. 2005)). As a corollary to the state-action
requirement, Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides a remedydeprivations of rights secured by the
Constitution and laws of the United States when that deprivation takes place ‘under color of any
statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, ages of any State or Territory . . . Lugar v.
Edmondson Oil Cp457 U.S. 922, 924 (1982). The U.SipBeme Court has provided that “a

person acts under color of stée only when exercising powepossessed by virtue of state law

1 The Court notes that Mr. Garlington has essty disavowed any notion that the Amended
Complaint mounts a collateral attaof his criminal convictioror term of incarceration. Pl.’s
Coldwell Banker Opp’n Br. at 5, ECF No. 58.



and made possible only because the wrongdaxotised with the authority of state lawPolk
Cty. v. Dodsop454 U.S. 312, 317-18 (1981).

To prove an action is attributi@xo the State “a plaintiff must establish both that [the]
alleged constitutional deprivation [was] caused by the exercise of some right or privilege created
by the State or by a rule of conduct imposed leyState or by a person for whom the State is
responsibleandthat the party charged with the deptiga [is] a person who may fairly be said
to be a state actorGrogan v. Blooming Grove Volunteer Ambulance Corf&8 F.3d 259,
263-64 (2d Cir.2014) (citations and internal quotatnarks omitted). The latter inquiry requires
proof that “there is such a close nexusiN®en the State and tkhballenged action that
seemingly private behavior may be faittgated as that of the State itsel@l’ at 264 (internal
guotation marks and citations omitted).

At the pleading stage, a plaintiff need gonclusively provetate action but must
plausibly allege that it occurred by relying more than “vague and conclusory” statements.
White v. Monarch Pharm., Inc346 Fed. App’x. 739, 741 (2d C2009) (citation omitted)
(dismissing a Section 1983 complaint faitifey to plausibly allege state actiorgpear v. Town
of West Hartford954 F.2d 63, 68 (2d Cir. 1992) (citation omitted) (sai@e&mbriello v. Cnty.
of Nassau292 F.3d 307, 324 (2d Cir. 2002) (“A merelynclusory allegation that a private
entity acted in concert with a state actorginet suffice to state a § 1983 claim against the
private entity.”) (citation omitted).

The Second Circuit has instructed thatfeie attribution analysis must begin by
identifying the “specific conduct of which thegpitiff complains, ratlr than the general

characteristics of the entityGrogan 768 F.3d at 264 (internal quotation marks and citations



omitted). From there, the determination of whethere is state action is a “matter of normative
judgment” that requires the Court toaemine the totality of the circumstances.

“Several tests have been devised by tingr&ne Court” to determine whether a private
party’s actions constita state action under tli®@urteenth Amendmen&iannattasio v.
Stamford Youth Hockey Ass’n, In621 F. Supp. 825, 826 (D. Conn. 1985). A court may find
that state action occurred if “the State credle legal framework gousing the conduct; if it
delegates its authority to tipeivate actor; or sometimesiifknowingly accepts the benefits
derived from unconstitutional behavioNat’l| Coll. Athletic Ass’'n v. Tarkanigrt88 U.S. 179,
192 (1988)see alsaMartin A. SchwartzSection 1983 Litigation: Claims & Defensg$.12
(4th ed.2015) (noting five tests have been usatkttermine whethestate action exists: the
symbiotic relationship test, the pervasive enemnent test, the public function test, the close
nexus test, and the joint action test).

As it must, the Court assumes all facts tdarbe. Mr. Garlington doesot assert that Ms.
Cifford or Caldwell Banker acted as agentshaf State of Connecticutlor could he plausibly
do so. Indeed, he has alleged that Ms. Cliffacted out of personal financial interest, not on
behalf of the State of Connectic&ee, e.g Am. Compl. § 3 (“Mrs. Clifford’s commission
would be over $240,000 . . . ?Instead, he alleges that Judge Clifford and Mr. Koch are state

actors and therefore introduce state action iritodase. But Judge Clifford and Mr. Koch are

2 The role of Coldwell Banker in this narrativesisen more attenuated. Mr. Garlington alleges
that Coldwell Banker colluded with Ms. Cliffotaly allowing her to create forged documents
under its name. Am. Compl. § 32. The forged dosnts allegedly were offered by Ms. Clifford
to show that Judge Clifford had no conflibat would preclude hirfrom sentencing Mr.
Garlington.ld. 8 14. Mr. Garlington’s criminal convicin and sentencing, however, are not
before the Court.



not parties to this case. As a result, thermistate action and the cditigtional claims brought
through Section 1983 must be dismissed.

B.  42U.S.C.§1985(2)

Section 1985(2), in relevant paprohibits conspiracies tamped|e] . . . the due course
of justice . . . with intent to deny to any citizére equal protection of the laws, or to injure him .
.. for lawfully enforcing, or attempting to enéa, the right of any persoaor, class of persons, to
the equal protection of the laws.” 42 U.S.C. § 198%@¢; alsaJohns v. Home Depot U.S.A,,
Inc., 221 F.R.D. 400, 406 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (identifyitigs clause as “impos[ing] liability for
interference with state glicial proceedings” as opposed to the first provision that applies to
federal proceedings).

This provision requires a pldiff to allege “(1) a conspiracy between two or more
persons, (2) to deter a witnessfbyce, intimidation or threat &m attending court or testifying
freely in any pending matter, which (3ptdts in injury to the plaintiff. Chahal v. Paine Webber
Inc., 725 F.2d 20, 23 (2d Cir. 1984). The statute reguiteat conspiratorsactions be motivated
by an intent to deprive their viois of equal protection of the laywsand “has been interpreted to
mean that plaintiff must allege discriminataagial, ethnic, or clasBased animus motivating
the conspirators’ action[s]” inrder to state a clairkhan v. City of New YoriNo. 14-cv-4665
(SLT) (VMS), 2016 WL 1128298, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 1, 20H8jppted by2016 WL 1192667
(E.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2016) (internal quotation marks omittsde alsdeating v. Carey706
F.2d 377, 385 (2d Cir. 1983) (explaining that tHevant provision of Section 1985(2) “makes it
unlawful to obstruct the course jofstice in state courts with thetent to deny to any citizen the

equal protection of the laws” language thaSection 1985(3) the Supreme Court has held

10



requires a plaintiff to allege “some raciat,perhaps otherwise class-based invidiously
discriminatory animus behind the conspirataxgion[s]” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Dr. Garlington does not allege that either I@4fford or Coldwell Bankers acted because
of race or class-based animus. Again, as nabede, Mr. Garlington asserts that Ms. Clifford
acted out of personal financial interesee, e.g. Am. Compl. § 3 (“MrsClifford’s commission
would be over $240,000 . . . ."”). Furthermore, Barlington has not allegethat the state has
deprived him of an attorney, and thus @gsible conspiracy between Defendants and Mr.
Koch, and the Court has found none, has failéffJesult[] in injury to the plaintiff.” Chahal
725 F.2d at 23.

Mr. Garlington therefore failt state a viable claim und8ection 1985(2) and this claim
must be dismissed.

C. 42U.SC.§1985(3)

Section 1985(3) provides an action fonwayes caused by “two or more persons” who
conspire to deprive someone ojual protection of the laws, sorlg as one person takes an act in
furtherance of the object of the conspiracyl#43.C. § 1985(3). To allege a Section 1985(3)
claim, a plaintiff must plead “(13 conspiracy, (2) for the purposkdepriving, either directly or
indirectly, any person or class of persons of éguatection of the lawor of equal privileges
and immunities under the law; and (3) an aduntherance of the conspiracy, (4) whereby a
person is either injured in hisygen or property or deprived ofiaright of privilege of a citizen
of the United StatesRini v. Zwirn 886 F. Supp. 270, 290 (E.D.N.Y. 1995) (citldgited Bhd.
of Carpenters & Joiners, Local 610 v. S¢di3 U.S. 825, 828-29, 103 S.Ct. 3352, 77 L.Ed.2d

1049 (1983)).

11



Despite the “two or more persons” languagéhim statute, which indicates that the statute
may reach purely private conduct, the Second Circuit, consistent with Supreme Court precedent,
has recognized that “a consql to deny equal protectionwiplation of the Fourteenth
Amendment [under Section 1985(3)] is not atdble in the absence of state actidedimond v.
Hartford Ins. Co, 27 Fed. App’x. 51, 53 (2d Cir. 2001) (citiinited Bhd. of Carpenters &
Joiners, Local 610463 U.S. at 831-32). Since the Fourtbelmendment itsélrequires state
action, a Section 1985(3) action ahing a conspiracy to violatedgtEqual Protection Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendmentalrequires state actiodnited Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners,
Local 610,463 U.S. at 832—33. To make out a § 1985@clit is necessary for a plaintiff to
allege facts, that, if provenuge, would show the state was “seimow involved in or affected by
the conspiracy.1d. at 833.

Because state actionnsquired to state a claim und&ection 1985(3) and Ms. Clifford
and Coldwell Bankers are not state actorstiferreasons discusselooae under § 1983 claim,
Mr. Garlington has failed to alisibly allege state actioBee Lugar v. Edmondson Oil C457
U.S. 922, 929 (1982) (holding that Section 1988/sder color of stte law” requirement and the
“state action” required under the Fourteentheldiment are “identical”). The Court therefore
will dismiss Mr. Garlington’s under § 1985(3).

Having dismissed Mr. Galgton’s claims under 8 1983, 198%(and 1985(3), the Court
does not, and need not, reach Defendants’ other arguments.

D. The Proposed Second Amended Complaint

Mr. Garlington proposes bringirgr. Koch and various othgrublic defenders into this
case in his proposed Second Amended ComplBe@d=CF No. 57. Because the Court has

already granted Mr. Garlington leave to anthdnis Complaint once and the proposed Second

12



Amended Complaint fails to remedy anytloé legal deficiencies addressed above, Mr.
Garlington’s motion to amend is deni€&ke Williams v. Citigroup Inc659 F.3d 208, 214 (2d
Cir. 2011) per curian) (“Leave to amend need not bexagted where the proposed amendment
would be futile.”);Roth v. CitiMortgage In¢.756 F.3d 178, 183 (2d Cir. 2014) (citiglliams);
see alsd_eonelli v. Pennwalt Corp887 F.2d 1195, 1199 (2d Cir. 1989) (finding futility and
denying appellant’s motion to amend where neithaéwofwere fiduciaries of the pension plan at
issue within the meaning of the Employm&etirement Income Security AchtacPherson

2010 WL 3081278, at *4 (finding futility where plaiffitdid not alleged that the credit reporting
agency notified the defendant bank that repanéarmation was disputed and therefore there
was no private right of action the FCRA).danying the Second Amended Complaint on futility
grounds, the Court finds that, as a matter of laither Mr. Koch nor any other public defenders
he seeks to sue are state actors.

In Dodson the U.S. Supreme Court addressedjtirestion of whether a criminal defense
attorney performs a function that has traditionbkken the province of the state and recognized
that, within the American legal system, “[i]t istefi said that lawyers are ‘officers of the court.”
Id. Nonetheless, a lawyer repres8eg a client does not, by virtud being a so called officer of
the court, act under color of law within the meaning of § 1883ndeed, a criminal defense
attorney “characteristically oppes the designated representativbEthe State. The system
assumes that adversarial testing will ultimatelyance the public interest in truth and fairness.”
Id.

Central to this propositiois the notion that, in our systasfilaws, “a defense lawyer best
serves the public, not kgcting on behalf of the Stateiarconcert with it, but rather by

advancing ‘the undivided farests of his client.ld. 318-19. A criminal defense attorney, in

13



essence serves a private functiome traditionally provided by rateed counsel, “for which state
office and authority are not needett” at 319. InGideon v. Wainwright372 U.S. 335 (1963),
the Court established the state criminal defendaigfa to “the guiding had of counsel at every
step in the proceedings against himd.”at 345. “Implicit in the cocept of a ‘guiding hand’ is
the assumption that counsel vk free of state controlDodson 454 U.S. at 322.

Here, none of Mr. Garlington’s factual ajkgions in the proposed Second Amended
Complaint distinguish this case frddodson Mr. Garlington asserts thitr. Koch’s withdrawal
deprived Mr. Garlington of his constitutionayht to counsel. Am. Compl § 20. But Mr. Koch
did not act on behalf of the&e of Connecticut when doing 8eeDodson 454 U.S. at 319
(reasoning that the client-attornestationship was not created or sustained by state authority).
Thus, if, in fact, Mr. Garlington suffered amury, it was not under thcolor of law. Mr.
Garlington also has not allegedattihe State of Cometicut failed to appoint him new counsel.
As a result, any alleged impads. Clifford may have had oklr. Garlington’sattorney-client
relationship with Mr. Koch was purely private in nature.

Because none of Mr. Garlington’s factuliégations allow for an inference that Mr.
Koch was acting under color of law, Mr. Garlington has failed to allege that Mr. Koch’s actions
can be fairly attributed to éhState of Connecticut. As a résany Section 1983 claim involving
Mr. Koch or any other public defender would hawéde dismissed and it would be futile for this
Court to grant leave for Mr. Garlington fite the proposed Second Amended Complaint.

V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons disaed above, the COUBRANT S Ms. Clifford’s motion to dismiss

andGRANTS Coldwell Banker’'s motion to dismiss.

14



The CourtDENIES Mr. Garlington’s motion to amend amXENIES his motions for
reconsideration, appointment of coulnsad injunctive relief as moot.
The Court instructs the Clerk of the Couretater judgment in favor of Ms. Clifford and
Coldwell Banker and to close this case.
SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 24th day of March, 2018.
/sl Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN
WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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